No. 90244-5

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 43138-6-II

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# ALEX VON KLEIST, Respondent,

v.

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER				
II.	CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS OPINION				
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW				
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
V.	GROUNDS FOR REVIEW				
	1.	Court definir	pinion conflicts with prior decisions of the of Appeals and Supreme Court ng substantial compliance with the long-arm e, RCW 4.28.185(4)  The affidavits Von Kleist filed on May 10, 2010 do not support the logical conclusion that Cochrane could not be served in	8	
		b.	Washington  Von Kleist did not carry his burden of proving that he filed the relevant affidavits prior to judgment	-	
	2.	holdin if it iss prior f	pinion conflicts with established precedent by g that a trial court does not abuse its discretion sues a second default judgment to replace a inal default judgment without specific ization by statute or court rule	16	
VI.	CO	NCLU	SION	20	

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

### Cases

Barer v. Goldberg, 20 Wn. App. 472, 582 P.2d 868 (1978)
Barr v. Interbay Citizens Bank of Tampa, Fla., 96 Wn. 2d 692, 649 P.2d 827 (1982)
CTVC of Hawaii, Co., Ltd. v. Shinawatra, 82 Wn. App. 699, 919 P.2d 1243 (1996) modified, 932 P.2d 664 (1997)
Dubois v. Kapuni, 71 Wn. App. 621, 860 P.2d 431 (1993)
Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc, 92 Wn.2d 576, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979) 15
Haberman v. Washington Public Power Supply System, 109 Wn.2d 107, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987), amended, 109 Wn. 2d 107, 750 P.2d 254 (1988)
Hatch v. Princess Louise Corp., 13 Wn. App. 378, 534 P.2d 1036 (1975)
In the Matter of the Guardianship of Adamec, 100 Wn.2d 166, 667 P.2d 1085 (1983)
In re Marriage of Shoemaker, 128 Wn.2d 116, 904 P.2d 1150 (1995)
Peha's Univ. Food Shop v. Stimpson Corp., 177 Wash. 406,         31 P.2d 1023 (1934)
Ralph's Concrete Pumping Inc. v. Concord Concrete Pumps, Inc., 154 Wn. App. 581, 225 P.3d 1035 (2010), review granted by Ralph's Concrete Pumping, Inc. v. Concord Concrete Pumps, Inc., 169 Wn. 2d 1029, 241 P.3d 786 (2010)
RCL Nw., Inc. v. Colorado Res., Inc., 72 Wn. App. 265, 864 P.2d 12 (1993)

Rose ex. rel. Estate of Rose v. Fritz, 104 Wn. App. 116, 15 P.3d 1062 (2001)
Schell v. Tri-State Irrigation, 22 Wn. App. 788, 591 P.2d 1222 (1979)
Sharebuilder Securities, Corp. v. Hoang, 137 Wn. App. 330, 153 P.3d 222 (2007)passim
Sheldon v. Fettig, 129 Wn. 2d 601, 919 P.2d 1209 (1996)
Sidis v. Brodie/Dohrmann, Inc., 117 Wn.2d 325, 815 P.2d 781 (1991) 19
White v. Holm, 73 Wn.2d 348, 438 P.2d 581 (1968)
Statutes
RCW 4.16.170
RCW 4.28.185 passim
Rules
CR 4
CR 54
CR 55
CR 58
CR 60 16, 17, 18
RAP 9.7
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(2)

### **Other Authorities**

27 Wash. Prac., Creditors' Remedies - Debtors' Relief § 5.4 (2d ed.) 9,	, 11
Black's Law Dictionary	. 11

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Gregory Cochrane ("Cochrane"), a Canadian citizen who was one of the appellants in the Court of Appeals and one of the defendants in the underlying Superior Court action.

### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS OPINION

Cochrane seeks review of parts of the Court of Appeals' decision in *Alex Von Kleist v. Paul J. Luksha and Gregory Cochrane*, No. 43138-6-II, filed February 4, 2014 (the "Opinion"). <sup>1</sup> Review is sought of those parts of the Opinion which refuse to vacate a default judgment entered against Cochrane on May 10, 2010. The Court of Appeals denied Cochrane's timely Motion for Reconsideration or, in the Alternative, for Publication on April 2, 2014.<sup>2</sup>

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Under RCW 4.28.185(4), "[p]ersonal service outside the state [is] valid only when an affidavit is made and filed to the effect that service cannot be made within the state." Does a plaintiff substantially comply with this statute by filing an affidavit of service alleging only that abode service was made at a foreign defendant's out-of-state residence at a time the defendant was present, without any other showing or assertion that service could not be made in Washington?

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals' unpublished Opinion is attached hereto as Appendix A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals Order Requesting an Answer to Motion for Reconsideration, dated March 3, 2014 and its Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration, or in the Alternative, for Publication, dated April 2, 2014, are both attached hereto as Appendix B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A copy of RCW 4.28.185 is attached hereto as Appendix C.

- 2. If an affidavit pursuant to RCW 4.28.185(4) is filed on the same day as, but not demonstrably before, a default judgment, does it satisfy the requirement that the affidavit be filed prior to the entry of judgment?
- 3. Does a trial court abuse its discretion if, without specific authorization by statute or court rule, it enters a second default judgment modifying an earlier final default judgment?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of an investment Respondent Alex Von Kleist ("Von Kleist") made in a Washington limited partnership. CP 1221, ¶ 2.1. Apparently believing that he was cheated out of funds due from the partnership, Von Kleist prepared a complaint against various entities and individuals, alleging long-arm jurisdiction over the non-resident individuals. CP 1221, ¶ 1.7. On December 11, 2009 Von Kleist attempted service by mail on Cochrane, a Canadian citizen and resident of Ontario, Canada. CP 1264. Less than sixty days later, on January 27, 2010, Von Kleist procured a default judgment against Cochrane and each of the other defendants. CP 1273-76. This default judgment was a final judgment, resolving all claims against all parties. CP 1273-76.

On May 10, 2010, without having moved to modify or set aside the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Von Kleist also attempted service by mail on Paul Luksha ("Luksha") and Les Pioch ("Pioch"). CP 1261-67. See also CP 1680-1687. A comparison of the Canada Post tracking records submitted for Pioch (CP 1686-87) with those for Cochrane (CP 1684) shows that a signed receipt was required from Pioch (and received from a "Jennifer"), but was neither required nor received from Cochrane. *Compare* CR 4(i)(D) (authorizing, under certain circumstances, service in a foreign country "by any form of mail, requiring a signed receipt").

initial default judgment, Von Kleist applied for and received a second default judgment, titled "Default Judgment as to International Defendants." CP 1277-79. According to Von Kleist, he requested the second default judgment because "[a]lthough default judgment was entered as to all defendants in this action on January 27, 2010, the international defendants in question were not personally served" until afterwards. CP 1282-83. Like the first default judgment, the Default Judgment as to International Defendants purports to bind Cochrane. CP 1278.

On the same day as he moved for and obtained the second default judgment, Von Kleist also filed two other documents potentially relevant to the validity of the judgment against Cochrane. The first of these documents (in the order in which they were initially entered on the trial court docket and numbered in the clerks papers) is the Declaration of Stephen Pidgeon in Support of Motion for Judgment on Default as to International Defendants ("Pidgeon Declaration"). CP 1286-93.<sup>5</sup> The Pidgeon Declaration makes no reference to Cochrane's residence, nor any representation "to the effect that service cannot be made [on Cochrane]

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> According to RAP 9.7(a), "[t]he clerk shall . . . number each page of the clerk's papers in chronological order of filing" (emphasis added). Also, a copy of the docket for the trial court case, printed from Pierce County Linx

<sup>(</sup>https://linxonline.co.pierce.wa.us/linxweb/Case/CivilCase.cfm?cause\_num=10-2-05794-9) on February 18, 2014 was attached to Cochrane's Motion for Reconsideration as Appendix A. This copy of the docket shows the relevant affidavits filed after the second default judgment. As of May 1, 2014, the online docket reflects a different ordering of the documents filed on May 10, 2010. How and why this change occurred is unclear. In any event, the order in which documents were *initially* entered on the docket is reflected in the numbering of the clerks papers.

within the state." The only relevant statement it contains is that "the defendants GREGORY COCHRANE and LES PIOCH are both Canadian citizens who have never entered the armed forces of the United States." CP 1289 at ¶ 10.

The second document is an Affidavit of Service on Cochrane. CP 1297-1299. This Affidavit of Service includes a title page, which states that "[a]ttached is the Affidavit of Service as to Defendant Gregory Cochrane, a Canadian citizen resident in Toronto, Ontario." CP 1297. The actual affidavit of service, sworn to by George Mallia, includes the following statement:

On February 18, 2010, at 6:53 p.m., I served Gregory Cochrane with the Summons and Verified Complaint, by leaving a copy with Linda Cochrane, his wife, an adult resident of the same household where Gregory Cochrane is residing at 22 Queen Marys Drive, Toronto, Ontario, M8X 1S2.

The affidavit of service also reports Linda Cochrane's alleged assertion that her husband "Gregory Cochrane was in the house [but] . . . was not available to attend at the front door." CP 1298, ¶ 3. Apart from establishing that Cochrane has a residence in Ontario and alleging that he was there on the date of service, the Affidavit of Service makes no representations about Cochrane's amenability to service in Washington. 9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> RCW 4.28.185(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The title page, evidently prepared by Von Kleist's counsel, is not signed by him, nor is the Affidavit of Service on Cochrane incorporated by reference into, or even mentioned by, the Pidgeon Declaration. CP 1286-89.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP 1298, ¶ 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In addition to these two documents, Von Kleist also filed a declaration of his own. CP 1300-1411. This document makes no reference to either the residence or citizenship of

Approximately seven months after the second default judgment was entered, the law firm of Lane Powell PC filed a notice of limited appearance on behalf of all of the defendants, including Cochrane. CP 1412-14. The appearance was restricted to "the purpose of filing a motion to vacate the default against the defendants." CP 1412. On January 5, 2011, before any motion to vacate was in fact filed, but almost eight months after entry of the second default judgment, Von Kleist submitted the Affidavit of Stephen Pidgeon as to Service on Out of State Defendants ("Pidgeon Affidavit"). CP 1415-25. The distinguishing feature of the Pidgeon Affidavit is that—unlike any of the previous affidavits Von Kleist filed in this matter—it contains language stating that "at no time could service be made upon Gregory Cochrane in the State of Washington." CP 1416.

The defendants, including Cochrane, filed their Motion to Vacate Default Judgments on January 11, 2011. CP 1426. In his various responses and declarations opposing defendants' motion in the trial court, Von Kleist never claimed that his filings on or before May 10, 2010 substantially complied with RCW 4.28.185(4). CP 1503-06; 1508-1643; 1644-76; 1762-91; 1792-1874; 1913-18. Von Kleist's primary argument was that he did not need to comply with the long arm statute, because he had allegedly obtained Cochrane's consent to service by mail. CP 1467 at lines 9-10; CP 1469 at lines 24-25; CP 1651 at line 12. As a back-up

Cochrane, nor does it make any averment that could be construed "to the effect that service cannot be made [on Cochrane] within the state." RCW 4.28.185(4).

argument, Von Kleist initially maintained that "[t]he non-residence affidavit [which] was *filed with this Court on January 5, 2011*" constituted substantial compliance with RCW 4.28.185(4). CP 1669 (emphasis added). However, von Kleist promptly abandoned this argument, as indicated by the fact that his Response to Defendants' Re-Filed Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment makes *no* argument for substantial compliance with the long-arm statute, let alone an argument that his filings made on or before May 10, 2010 substantially complied with RCW 4.28.185(4). CP 1762-91.

On April 6, 2012 the trial court denied the defendants' motion to vacate without written explanation. CP 2084-86. However, in his oral decision, the trial judge indicated that he was basing his ruling on a finding that Cochrane had consented to service by mail.<sup>10</sup>

In their opening brief on appeal, Cochrane and Luksha expressly noted that Pidgeon's Affidavit of January 5, 2011 came too late to satisfy RCW 4.28.185(4).<sup>11</sup> In his Respondent's Brief, Von Kleist rested on his claim that Cochrane and Luksha had consented to service by mail, and made no effort to argue that he had substantially complied with the long-arm statute.<sup>12</sup>

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Specifically, the trial judge stated that he "believe[d] the initial forum selection clause [was] dispositive" (RP 4/6/2012 at p. 7, lines 1-2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See Brief of Appellants Cochrane and Luksha, at pp. 24-25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See Respondent's Brief, at p. 19 (noting that "the strict service of process requirements of the long arm statute do not apply"). See also id. at p. 22 (asserting that "personal jurisdiction is not being sought via . . . the long arm statute"). Cf. Complaint, at  $\P$  1.7. CP 1221.

The Court of Appeals' Opinion found that Cochrane had never consented to service by mail.<sup>13</sup> Because invalid service "initially prevented the superior court from having personal jurisdiction," the Court of Appeals vacated the first default judgment. 14 However, the Court of Appeals also found that Von Kleist substantially complied with the long arm statute, and in particular with RCW 4.28.185(4), prior to the entry of the second default judgment against Cochrane. Although neither the trial court nor any of the parties had previously raised this possibility, the Court of Appeals found that documents Von Kleist submitted on the date of entry of the second default judgment—and not the Affidavit of Stephen Pidgeon as to Service on Out of State Defendants, dated almost eight months later—were controlling.<sup>15</sup> It correctly noted that "Von Kleist's affidavit of service on Cochrane in Canada, and Pidgeon's later declaration in support of Von Kleist's motion for default judgment against international defendants, established that Cochrane is a Canadian citizen residing in Toronto, Ontario." From this, it concluded that "Von Kleist's affidavit of service as to Cochrane substantially complied with the long arm statute's requirement that the affidavit of service include a statement 'to the effect that service cannot be made within the state." The Court of Appeals also held that the trial court had not abused its discretion by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Opinion at p. 14. The Opinion also fund that Luksha was never properly served, and released him from both default judgments. Opinion at p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> *Id.* at p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> *Id.* at pp. 17-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> *Id.* at p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> *Id*.

entering a "second default judgment without first vacating a previously entered default judgment." <sup>18</sup>

### V. GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

- 1. The Opinion conflicts with prior decisions of the Court of Appeals and Supreme Court defining substantial compliance with the long-arm statute, RCW 4.28.185(4).
  - a. The affidavits Von Kleist filed on May 10, 2010 do not support the logical conclusion that Cochrane could not be served in Washington.

The Opinion holds that an affidavit alleging merely that service was made on a foreign defendant at his out-of-state residence when he was present therein substantially complies with RCW 4.28.185(4). This holding directly conflicts with *Sharebuilder Securities, Corp. v. Hoang*, 137 Wn. App. 330, 153 P.3d 222 (2007), and effectively reads the statute's affidavit requirement out of the law. Accordingly, review by this Court is proper under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

RCW 4.28.185(4) states that "[p]ersonal service outside the state shall be valid only when an affidavit is made and filed to the effect that service *cannot be made* within the state." Substantial compliance with RCW 4.28.185(4) is sufficient. However, substantial compliance with the statute "means that, viewing all affidavits filed prior to judgment, *the* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> *Id.* at pp. 20-21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> *Id.* at p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> RCW 4.28.185(4) (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Barr v. Interbay Citizens Bank of Tampa, Fla., 96 Wn. 2d 692, 696, 649 P.2d 827 (1982).

logical conclusion must be that service could not be had within the state."<sup>22</sup>

In *Sharebuilder*, the Court of Appeals vacated a default judgment, holding that the trial court lacked personal jurisdiction over the defendant because the plaintiff had failed to comply with RCW 4.28.185(4).<sup>23</sup> The plaintiff claimed substantial compliance with the statute, noting that it had filed an affidavit with the trial court stating as follows:

Attached hereto as Exhibit B is the Proof of Service showing service on defendants . . . in California on April 7, 2004 by personal service and delivery of copies of the Summons and Complaint to their residence.<sup>24</sup>

As the Court of Appeals noted, "[n]o other affidavit, except the process server's standard affidavit of service, appears in the prejudgment record."<sup>25</sup>

Sharebuilder rejected plaintiff's substantial compliance argument, holding as follows:

The above language does <u>not</u> substantially comply with RCW 4.28.185(4). The mere statement that [defendant] was served at her California residence does not lead to the logical conclusion that she could not be served within the state. She might also have a residence in Washington, or frequent Washington for business purposes.<sup>26</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Sharebuilder, 137 Wn. App.at 334-35 (emphasis added). See also Barr, 96 Wn. 2d at 696; Ralph's Concrete Pumping Inc. v. Concord Concrete Pumps, Inc., 154 Wn. App. 581, 590-91, 225 P.3d 1035 (2010), review granted by Ralph's Concrete Pumping, Inc. v. Concord Concrete Pumps, Inc., 169 Wn. 2d 1029, 241 P.3d 786 (2010); and 27 Wash. Prac., Creditors' Remedies - Debtors' Relief § 5.4 (2d ed.) (noting that in Barr "the court upheld an affidavit that stated bases for the conclusion without stating the conclusion itself because the conclusion was obvious from circumstances stated") (emphasis added).

<sup>23</sup> Sharebuilder, 137 Wn. App. at 335.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> *Id.* (emphasis added).

The contradiction between *Sharebuilder* and the Opinion is revealed by simply placing Cochrane's name, and substituting "Ontario" for "California," in the passage quoted immediately above.<sup>27</sup> The Opinion finds substantial compliance with RCW 4.28.185(4) based on affidavits with the following content:

- Cochrane is a citizen of Canada (CP 1289 at ¶ 10).
- Cochrane was served by abode service at his residence in Ontario at a time when he was present (CP 1298).

As *Sharebuilder* points out, this information—the only relevant information on file by the date of entry of the second default judgment against Cochrane—simply does not support "the logical conclusion . . . that service *could not be had* within the state."<sup>28</sup> It is common knowledge that there are many Canadian citizens who have a primary residence in some Canadian province, but who also have a residence in Washington or frequent Washington for business or recreational purposes, and hence are potentially amenable to service here. The conclusion that Cochrane could

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> To wit: "The mere statement that [Cochrane] was served at [his Ontario] residence does not lead to the logical conclusion that [he] could not be served within the state. [He] might also have a residence in Washington, or frequent Washington for business purposes." *Sharebuilder*, 137 Wn. App. at 335.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> *Id.* (emphasis added). Neither the Affidavit of Stephen Pidgeon as to Service on Out of State Defendants, filed January 5, 2011, nor the Declaration of Gregory Cochrane, filed January 11, 2011, is relevant to the issue of whether the required affidavit was filed before the judgment. *See, e.g. Sharebuilder,* 137 Wn. App. at 335 (holding that "[defendant's] affidavit that she has never been to Washington cannot create substantial compliance, because it was not filed before entry of judgment"). *See also Barr,* 96 Wn.2d at 696 (noting that "[a]s they were filed before judgment, the affidavits were timely"). The issue of whether the Pidgeon Declaration (CP 1286) and the Affidavit of Service (CP 1297) were themselves filed "before" or "prior to" entry of the second default judgment is discussed separately below.

not be served in Washington is simply not "obvious from the circumstances stated" in the documents on which the Opinion relies.<sup>29</sup>

Neither the fact that Cochrane is a Canadian citizen nor the fact that he was allegedly present in his residence at the time he was served distinguishes this case from *Sharebuilder*. For individuals—as opposed possibly to corporations—citizenship status adds nothing to residence status as a determinant of the possibility of service within this state.<sup>30</sup> Even if Cochrane were a citizen of North Korea, this would in no way support a logically necessary inference that he could not be served in Washington. Citizenship status concerns a formal legal relationship between an individual and a country, not the physical location of the individual in the world.<sup>31</sup>

Similarly, Cochrane's alleged presence in his Ontario home at the time he was served there provides no support for a "logical conclusion . . . that service could not be had within the state." It is of course trivially true that a person cannot be in more than one place at a time. 33 However,

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> 27 Wash. Prac., Creditors' Remedies - Debtors' Relief § 5.4 (2d ed.) (analyzing *Barr*, 96 Wn.2d 692 (1982)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Note that in *Sharebuilder*, the defendant was plainly alleged to be a California resident. *Sharebuilder*, 137 Wn. App. at 333, 335.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See, e.g., Black's Law Dictionary 244 (6<sup>th</sup> ed. 1990) (entries for both "citizen" and "citizenship" make no reference to an adult's location within a country as being relevant).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Sharebuilder, 137 Wn. App. at 334-35. It is impossible to determine from Sharebuilder whether the defendant was present in her California residence when she was served. The Sharebuilder court implicitly—and properly—treated this consideration as irrelevant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Compare Von Kleist's Response to Cochrane's Motion for Reconsideration, or for Publication, at p. 7 (arguing that since "a person cannot be in the more than one place at one time, it can be deductively reasoned that if Cochrane was personally served in

as Sharebuilder notes, there is nothing that prohibits a person from simultaneously having both a foreign residence and a Washington residence.<sup>34</sup> Since abode service does not require personal delivery to the defendant, but merely delivery to "some person of suitable age and discretion then resident [in the defendant's usual abode]," as a matter of logic such service can be had in more than one place at the same time.<sup>35</sup> Hence, the fact that service was had at an out-of-state place when the defendant was present does not support a logical conclusion that the defendant could not have been served at the same precise time in Washington.

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