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

ARGUMENT ON REVIEW 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with existing 

law. 

Personal jurisdiction is established by well-settled law. As the 

Court of Appeals ruled: 

Here, as Cochrane and Luksha acknowledge, Von Kleist 

personally served Cochrane on February 18, 2010. Von Kleist's 

affidavit of service on Cochrane in Canada, and Pidgeon's later 

declaration in support ofVon Kleist's motion for default judgment 

against international defendants, established that Cochrane is a 

Canadian citizen residing in Toronto, Ontario. Thus, Von Kleist's 

affidavit of service as to Cochrane substantially complied with the 

long arm statute' s requirement that the affidavit of service include 
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a statement "to the effect that service cannot be made within the 

state" ofWashington. RCW 4.28.185(4). 

Cochrane argues that substantial compliance with the statute was 

not met, yet Cochrane agrees that the term "substantial compliance" is 

established and reiterated in the Sharebuilder Securities decision The 

standard for compliance with the long arm statute is substantial, not strict 

compliance. "Substantial compliance means that, viewing all affidavits 

filed prior to judgment, the logical conclusion [italics added] must be that 

service could not be had within the state Corp. V. Hoang, 137 Wn.App. 

330, 334-335, 153 P.3d 222 (2007). 

Gregory Cochrane was personally served with the summons and 

complaint at his residence in Toronto, Ontario while he was present. CP 

1297-1299. In reaching a logical conclusion, the court may apply a 

hypothetical syllogism (If A, then B, if B, then C; therefore, if A, then C). 

If Gregory Cochrane was personally served in Toronto, Canada (A), then 

Gregory Cochrane was not in the State of Washington at the time of 

service (B). If Gregory Cochrane was not in the state of Washington at the 

time of service (B), then service on Gregory Cochrane at the time of 

service could not been made in the state of Washington (C). Therefore the 

conclusion using well-established rules of logic is that if Gregory 

Cochrane was personally served in Toronto, Canada (A), then service on 

Gregory Cochrane at the time of service could not have been made in the 

state of Washington (C). Given the clear logic that a person cannot be in 
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more than one place at one time, it can be deductively reasoned that if 

Cochrane was personally served in Toronto, Ontario, he necessarily could 

not be subject to personal service in the state of Washington. Hence, 

substantial compliance is achieved if there is any affidavit on file 

indicating that Gregory Cochrane was served in Toronto, Ontario at a time 

when he was present. CP 1298. The Court of Appeals so found and the 

conclusion is well-supported by the evidence. 

Cochrane makes an argument not included in the evidentiary 

record before the court that the affidavit of service was docketed on the 

same day as the entry of the judgment but somehow stamped later than the 

default judgment. The court should disregard this argument as the court 

has no record to review to reach this conclusion. 

It is Cochrane's burden to perfect the record on appeal. "If the 

party seeking review intends to urge that a verdict or finding of fact is not 

supported by the evidence, the party should include in the record all 

evidence relevant to the disputed verdict or finding." RAP 9. 2( b). When 

an appellant has failed to perfect the record on appeal, the court may 

decline to reach the merits of an issue because it does not have all the 

evidence relevant to the issue before it. Rhinevault v. Rhinevault, 91 Wn. 

App. 688,692,959 P. 2d 687 (1998), review denied, 137 Wn.2d 1017 

(1999). Consider the following discussion on this subject: 

The Court of Appeals in theory has the power to order the 

trial court to consider new evidence before it renders a decision. 
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RAP 9.11. However, this power is applied very sparingly. Six 

criteria must be met before the trial court will order the taking of 

new evidence. Generally, if a party or its attorney could have 

presented the "new" evidence at trial, but failed to do so through 

no fault ofthe opposing party, the Court of Appeals will not 

consider or order the consideration of new evidence. 

David Corbett, Questions and Answers about Civil Appeals in the 

Washington State Court of Appeals, 2011. 

Cochrane's Argument as to what was on file is a CR 60(b)(l) 

motion brought for the first time on appeal. 

The question of how the pleadings were docketed, again is an 

alleged irregularity from the clerk's office subject to review under CR 

60(b )(1 ). As this Court explained previously: 

The exclusive procedure for attacking an allegedly 

defective judgment is by appeal from the judgment, not by appeal 

from denial of a CR 60(b) motion. Bjurstrom v. Campbell, 27 Wn. 

App. 449,451,618 P. 2d 533 ( 1980). CR 60(b) is not a substitute 

for appeal. Bjurstrom, 27 Wn. App. at 451. An unappealed final 

judgment cannot be restored to an appellate track by means of 

moving to vacate and then appealing the denial ofthe motion. State 

v. Gaut, 111 Wn. App. 875, 881, 46 P. 3d 832 ( 2002). 

The course specifically denied in State v Gaut is exactly the course 

plotted by Cochrane. Cochrane knew of the judgment entered against him 
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in 2010, but deliberately elected a dilatory legal strategy to wait nearly a 

year before moving to set aside default. Cochrane made his election to 

forego direct appeal in 2010, and his ability to raise the issue on appeal 

vanished on June 10, 2010. 

Cochrane then joined in a motion to vacate the default which was 

eventually heard in August, 2012, and sought to restore issues under CR 

60(b )(1) to an appellate track by means of moving to vacate and then 

appealing the denial of the motion. The law is well-settled, and all issues 

brought under CR 60(b )(1) must be dismissed. 

Von Kleist has no burden to meet an argument rendered moot 

as of AprillO, 2010. 

CR 55(b) requires the ex parte court to determine at the time of the 

entry of the judgment that "proof of service is on file," which it was. An 

irregularity by the clerk's office is not something over which Von Kleist 

has control. By logical conclusion, it was filed prior to judgment being 

granted. Under RAP 9.2( b) and pursuant to the standard set forth in the 

Rhinevault decision, Rhinevault, 91 Wn.App. 688, 692, 959 P. 2d 687 

( 1998), review denied, 13 7 Wn.2d 1017 ( 1999), this court should dismiss 

this motion. 

Cochrane was personally served. The ex parte court so found 

when it entered the default judgment against Cochrane. The record before 

this Court does not contradict that fact. The affidavit of service indicates 

that Cochrane was in Toronto, Ontario at the time of service. The issue as 
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to the timing of the docketing was not raised in the motion to vacate 

default judgments, nor was it raised on oral argument. Cochrane has 

therefore raised a CR 60(b )(1) motion for the first time on appeal, 3 years 

and 10 months after the entry of the judgment. 

CR 60 provides in applicable part that ''the motion shall be made 

within a reasonable time and for reason (1 ), (2) or (3) not more than 1 year 

after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken." The 

language ofRCW 4.72.020 (Pub. Law 2011 c 336 § 119; 1891 c 27 § 1; 

Code 1881 § 438; 1877 p 97 § 440; 1875 p 21 § 3; RRS § 466) is quite 

specific. "The proceedings to vacate or modify a judgment or order for 

mistakes or omissions of the clerk, or irregularity in obtaining the 

judgment or order, shall be by motion served on the adverse party or on his 

or her attorney in the action, and within one year." Further, CR 60 (e)(4) 

provides that "except as modified by this rule, RCW 4.72.010-090 shall 

remain in full force and effect. 

The additional evidence would not change the issue being 

reviewed, because as Cochrane alleges, the issue should be vacated 

"because of procedural irregularity under CR 60(b )(1 ). " Again, Cochrane 

sought to advance on appeal that which he failed to appeal in 2010, and to 

do so by means of a CR 60 motion. The rule in Bjurstrom and Gaut is 

dispositive on this issue and renders the entire issue moot. 

On review of an order that denies a CR 60(b) motion to vacate a 

judgment or order, only the propriety of the denial, not the impropriety of 
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the underlying judgment or order, is before the reviewing court Barr v. 

MacGugan, 119 Wn. App. 43, 48 n.2, 78 P.3d 660 (2003); Bjurstrom v. 

Campbell, 27 Wn. App. 449, 451 n.2, 618 P.2d 533 (1980); see also In re 

Dependency of J.MR., 160 Wn. App. 929, 938-39 n.4, 249 P.3d 193, 

review granted, 172 Wn.2d 1017 (2011). 

Where the court can only decide on reconsideration concerning a 

case whose time for appeal has long expired, such arguments are moot and 

should be dismissed. "A case is moot if a court can no longer provide 

effective relief." SEIU Healthcare 775 NWv. Gregoire, 168 Wn.2d 593, 

602, 229 P.3d 774 (2010). 

Cochrane was part of a group of defendants who took over One 

Million Dollars from Von Kleist without signing a single document. They 

have used a dilatory strategy to retain this money to their own benefit for 

as long as possible in order to deny Von Kleist his due process in 

Washington courts. Von Kleist is deserving of finality. 

The entry of default judgment against Gregory Cochrane on 

May 10,2010, was a valid exercise of jurisdiction. 

Cochrane argues that the first default judgment was a final 

judgment pursuant to CR 54(a)(l). However, the Court of Appeals has 

held that the judgment was void ab initio because personal jurisdiction did 

not attach. As the Appellate Court said in its opinion: 

As for the second default judgment, however, the record 

shows that Von Kleist complied with the long arm statute's service 
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requirement when he personally served Cochrane with the 

summons and complaint on February 18; thus, the second default 

judgment is not void as to Cochrane. The record also shows that 

Von Kleist neither named nor attempted to serve Luksha with the 

second motion for default. 

We hold that because Cochrane and Luksha did not consent 

to service by mail, (1) Washington's long arm statute governed 

service of process over them, (2) Von Kleist did not properly serve 

them in person outside the state with his first motion for default so 

as to confer personal jurisdiction, and (3) the first default 

judgment was void for lack of personal jurisdiction. [Bold 

added]. 

As a consequence, the default judgment taken on January 27, 2010, 

was not and could not have been a final judgment as to defendants over 

which the court had no personal jurisdiction. The court did find that 

personal jurisdiction did attach to allow for the entry of the default 

judgment over Pioch and Cochrane on May 10, 2010. As a consequence, 

the second default judgment was procedurally adequate and met the 

standards commensurate with the provisions ofCR 55. 

Cochrane alleges procedural deficiencies claiming that the 

motion for default needed to be served on him pursuant to the provisions 

of CR 60( e); however, Cochrane ignores the well-settled prescribed rule 

and mode of proceeding set forth in CR 55(a)(3), which provides as 
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follows: Any party who has not appeared before the motion for default 

and supporting affidavit are filed is not entitled to a notice of the motion, 

except as provided in rule 55(f)(2)(A). 

Because jurisdiction did not attach until Von Kleist brought his 

motion for default as to certain international defendants, all actions by the 

trial court were void ab initio and of no legal force or effect. As a 

consequence, the first default judgment was not a final judgment, and Von 

Kleist was at liberty to seek "a belt and suspenders" second default 

judgment as to those parties over whom the court had just acquired 

jurisdiction. 

CONCLUSION 

Cochrane asks this court to assume facts not on the record in 

asking this court to use "common sense" that some Canadians own 

residences in the states. He also asks this court to consider his CR60(b )( 1) 

issue that he brought for the first time on appeal. Finally, Cochrane seeks 

to misconstrue logic inapposite to the conclusions of the court as to the 

meaning of substantial compliance with the Long Arm Statute. 

Personal jurisdiction did attach to Cochrane when he was 

personally served in Toronto, Ontario. Von Kleist is required to meet 

substantial compliance with the Long Arm statute in Washington, which 

requires that the court reach a logical conclusion that service could not be 

had within the state. Personal service is prima facie evidence of such 
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logic. As a consequence, this Court rightly found on a unanimous basis 

that jurisdiction attached. 

The facts supporting Cochrane's argument of irregularity first are 

not before the court and not in the evidentiary record cited on appeal. 

Cochrane raises a novel item of irregularity for the first time in his most 

recent motion under CR 60(b )(1 ), three years and 10 months following the 

entry of the order. Cochrane elected in 2010 to forego his right to appeal 

the order, and instead elected to pursue a dilatory strategy to wait a year 

before attempting to set aside the default judgment. Bringing a motion to 

vacate under CR 60 in order to appeal the denial does not create a track to 

appeal the underlying decision that Cochrane elected not to appeal within 

the time allowed under CR 60 and RCW 4.72.020. Cochrane's CR 60(b) 

issues are moot and must be dismissed. 

This Court should not ignore the procedural irregularities of this 

motion, which is called a motion for reconsideration, but is in fact a 

motion on the merits which 1) seeks to litigate anew matters that were 

clearly before the court in Cochrane's initial brief, in Cochrane's reply 

brief, and which were raised on oral argument; and 2) seeks to new issues 

under CR 60(b )(1) for the first time, based on evidence not before the 

Court. 

The Court should not be misled by this obfuscation. Cochrane is 

craftily seeking to present an untimely CR 60(b) motion before this court, 

when the issue was moot as of June 10, 2011, when Cochrane failed to file 
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a notice of appeal, and instead elected to pursue a dilatory strategy of 

delay. He cannot have it both ways, and this court should not allow him to 

walk back over a path he long ago elected to ignore.